IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



VASTEN E. BLAIR,

v.

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 75,937

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BARBARA M. LINTHICUM PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

LYMN A WILLIAMS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR #195484 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner was charged in a two count indictment with first degree murder and robbery with a firearm (R 369-370).

The case proceeded to trial on January 25, 1989 and a verdict of guilty as charged was rendered on January 30, 1989 (R 381). After presentation of testimony at the penalty phase, the jury recommended the court impose a life sentence against appellant for the first degree murder conviction (R 382).

On March 23, 1989 petitioner was sentenced for the first degree murder conviction to life imprisonment with no possibility of parole for twenty-five years (R 366; R 389-391).

On the same date, the trial judge heard argument from counsel concerning the state's motion that the trial judge depart from the recommended guideline sentence of twelve to seventeen years. The trial judge imposed a departure sentence of life imprisonment on the robbery conviction, stating:

> I disagree with your attorney with regard to the escalation of your criminal record. That's just the way he characterizes it. And the way I view it, your criminal record has been one that has escalated ever since 1980, when you began with grand theft auto, runaway, and ungovernable, which was subsequently dropped, and then in '81, the grand theft auto and the theft. As a juvenile delinquent, you were adjudicated delinquent and committed twice, and our juvenile system was just inadequate to rescue you and to help you become rehabilitated.... ... You have a history of an escalating pattern of criminal activity which convinces me that there's not hope for rehabilitation. And I think the only thing we can do is lock you up so that you can't hurt anybody else (R 364-366).

> > -2-

The trial judge did not contemporaneously issue written reasons for departure. This is apparent from the following colloquy which took place immediately after the court pronounced sentence on March 23, 1989.

State: Your Honor, the Court will prepare and submit the findings?

Court: I will.

State: I think the Court's allowed, as I understand the law, for the Court to do that, subsequent to sentencing, within a day or two period.

Court: I will have it prepared (R 367). The typed, written order containing the reasons for departure was dated March 23, 1989 but file stamped by the clerk's office with the date March 28, 1989 (R 388).

The First District Court of Appeal affirmed petitioner's conviction but reversed the sentence and remanded for resentencing. <u>Blair v. State</u>, 559 So.2d 349 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990).

The Court ruled that the evidence established the two offenses arose from a single continuous criminal episode and therefore the imposition of consecutive minimum mandatory sentences was error.

The Court further ruled that the trial court's finding that a departure from the guidelines, based on an escalating pattern of criminality, was a proper reason for departure and - supported by the record.

The Court then held:

-3-

Additionally, the supreme court has recently held in <u>Ree v. State</u>, <u>So.2d</u> (Fla. 1989), opinion filed November 16, 1989 [14 F.L.W. 565], that written reasons for departure must be issued at the time sentence is pronounced. Since written reasons in the instant case were not entered until after the March 23, 1989 sentencing hearing, reversal for resentencing according to <u>Ree</u> is required.

Accordingly, we affirm the judgment of guilt on both counts, affirm the sentence in part, and reverse and remand for resentencing. The trial court is instructed that any mandatory minimum sentences must be imposed concurrently, and is directed to follow the mandate of <u>Ree</u> <u>v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, with regard to t = entry of written reasons for departure _rom the sentencing guidelines.

Blair v. State, 559 So.2d at 350.

Petitioner's notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction was filed with this Court on April 27, 1990.

On July 25, 1990 this Court issued an order accepting jurisdiction.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The First District Court of Appeal reversed petitioner's sentence for armed robbery based on the trial judge's failure to issue contemporaneous written reasons for departure from the guidelines. The court, however, went on to find the reason for departure valid, and authorized resentencing outside the guidelines.

As petitioner's case was pending on appeal at the time of this Court's decision in <u>Ree v. State</u>, 15 F.L.W. 395 (Fla. July 19, 1990) petitioner is entitled to the benefit of that holding.

However, the District Court of Appeal's ruling that petitioner can be resentenced outside the guidelines is erroneous as it conflicts with this Court's recent decision in <u>Pope v. State</u>, 561 So.2d 554 (Fla. 1990) and earlier decision in <u>Shull v. Dugger</u>, 515 So.2d 748 (Fla. 1987).

Petitioner submits that this Court should reverse petitioner's sentence on the robbery conviction and remand for resentencing within the guidelines.

In Issue two, Petitioner contends the life sentence for robbery imposed on petitioner violates equal protection and due process of law, in contravention of Article I, Sections 2 and 9 of the Florida Constitution and Amendments V and XIV of the United States Constitution. This contention is based on the fact that in Florida, a life sentence imposed for robbery is more severe than a life sentence imposed for first degree murder. Under this issue, petitioner submits his sentence for

-5-

robbery should be reversed and the case remanded for re-sentencing to a term of years.

In Issue III, petitioner contends that an examination of the colloquy at sentencing shows that the trial judge's reasons for departure were that petitioner was unamenable to rehabilitation and a danger to society. The trial judge based these conclusions on the trial judge's finding that petitioner had a history of an escalating pattery of criminal activity. Petitioner submits in this brief that unamenability to rehabilitation and being a danger to society are invalid reasons for departure and further, that the trial judge's finding that petitioner had an escalating pattern of criminal activity does not have sufficient support in the record. Under this Issue, petitioner submits his sentence for robbery should be reversed and remanded for re-sentencing within the guidelines.

-6-

IV. ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT REVERSIBLY ERRED IN FAILING TO ISSUE CONTEMPORANEOUS WRITTEN REASONS FOR DEPARTURE AT THE TIME OF SENTENCING; APPELLANT'S SENTENCE SHOULD BE REVERSED WITH DIRECTIONS THAT THE TRIAL COURT ENTER A GUIDELINE SENTENCE

The District Court of Appeal reversed petitioner's life sentence for armed robbery because the trial judge did not issue contemporaneous written reasons for departing from the recommended guideline range of twelve to seventeen years. This was in reliance on this Court's opinion in <u>Ree v. State</u>, 14 F.L.W. S565 (Fla. November 16, 1989) since heard on rehearing, <u>Ree v. State</u>, 15 F.L.W. S395 (Fla. July 19, 1990).

Petitioner contends the district court of appeal erred in authorizing in its remand that petitioner's sentence once again be outside the guidelines. <u>See Pope v. State</u>, 561 So.2d 554 (Fla. 1990); Shull v. Dugger, 515 So.2d 748 (Fla. 1987).

Pope is directly apposite to the case at bar.

Pope was sentenced to a departure sentence. This Court considered the departure sentence and the lower appellate court's decision which held the departure sentence invalid but authorized a departure sentence on remand. This court noted:

> At the sentencing hearing, the trial court orally gave reasons for the departure sentence, but did not provide reasons in writing pursuant to the requirements of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.701(d)(11). That rule provides: "Any sentence outside the permitted guideline range must be accompanied by a written statement delineating the reasons for the departure."

> > -7-

The district court correctly vacated the sentence due to the trial court's failure to provide written reasons. State v. Jackson, 478 So.2d 1054, 1055 (Fla. 1985), receded from on other grounds, Wilkerson v. State, 513 So.2d 664 (Fla. 1987); Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.701(d)(11). The district court remanded, giving the trial court the opportunity to provide written reasons justifying the departure when it resentences Pope. Pope contends that Jackson and Shull v. Dugger, 515 So.2d 748 (Fla. 1987), compelled the district court to remand only for the imposition of a sentence within the guidelines, thereby prohibiting a departure in resentencing. We agree.

(Emphasis supplied). Id. at 555.

In holding Pope could only be resentenced within the guidelines, this Court noted its reliance on existing case law, stating:

Effectively, Jackson and Shull both determined that at the point of remand no valid reasons for departure existed under the rule. Jackson said oral reasons were invalid and required resentencing. Shull said invalid reasons, even if written, must be remanded only for a guidelines sentence. Applying the principles of Jackson and Shull, and for the same policy reasons, we hold that when an appellate court reverses a departure sentence because there were no written reasons, the court must remand for resentencing with no possibility of departure from the guidelines.

Id. at 556.

Ree v. State, 15 F.L.W. S395 (Fla. July 19, 1990), on rehearing from 15 F.L.W. S565, held invalid a departure sentence where the written reasons were issued in writing five days after sentencing. Citing existing case law, <u>State v.</u> Jackson, 478 So.2d 1054 (Fla. 1985) and <u>State v. Oden</u>, 478 So.2d 51 (Fla. 1985), this Court held Ree's sentence was invalid because written reasons for departure must be issued at the time of sentencing.

Similarly, in petitioner's case, under the authority of <u>Ree v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, the departure sentence for armed robbery was invalid because no written reasons for departure were issued at the time of sentencing.

As in <u>Pope</u> and <u>Shull</u>, no valid reasons for departure exist under the rule for petitioner's departure sentence. <u>Shull</u> and <u>Pope</u> require where there are no valid reasons for departure, the case can be remanded for imposition of a guideline sentence only.

This relief is not precluded by the language in <u>Ree</u> which states its holding shall be applied prospectively. Generally, the law in effect at the time of an appeal is the law that should be applied. <u>Reed v. State</u>, 15 F.L.W. D1867 (5th DCA July 19, 1990) (Applying <u>Pope v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, to case pending on appeal); <u>State v. Jones</u>, 485 So.2d 1283 (Fla. 1986); <u>State <u>v. Castillo</u>, 486 So.2d 565 (Fla. 1986); <u>Dougan v. State</u>, 470 So.2d 697, 701 f2. (Fla. 1985) <u>cert. denied</u> 475 U.S. 1098 (1986); <u>Lowe v. Price</u>, 437 So.2d 142 (Fla. 1983); <u>Wheeler v.</u> <u>State</u>, 344 So.2d 244 (Fla. 1977); <u>Smith v. State</u>, 496 So.2d 983 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986); <u>McIntyre v. State</u>, 381 So.2d 1154 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980); <u>But See Williams v. State</u>, Case No. 89-1251 (Fla. 1st DCA August 9, 1990); <u>Williams v. State</u>, Case No. 89-962 (Fla. 1st DCA August 8, 1990); <u>Brown v. State</u>, 15 F.L.W. D2015 (Fla. 1st DCA August 6, 1990).</u>

-9-

In <u>Jones</u>, this Court considered the applicability of the holding in <u>State v. Neil</u>, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984) (dealing with peremptory challenges alleged to have been made for racial reasons). <u>Neil</u> was decided while <u>Jones</u> was pending on appeal. In <u>Neil</u> the Court had held its holding would not have retroactive application. In ruling <u>Neil</u> applied to <u>Jones</u> the court stated, "...we generally apply the law as it exists at the time of the appeal. (citations omitted). Our statement in <u>Neil</u> that it was to have no retroactive application was intended to apply to completed cases."

Similarly, petitioner's case is pending appeal at the time of the decision in <u>Ree</u> and is existing law which petitioner submits should be applied to petitioner's case.

Petitioner respectfully submits that this Court should reverse the portion of the District Court of Appeal's opinion in <u>Blair v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, which authorizes imposition of a departure sentence on remand.

ISSUE II

THE LIFE SENTENCE FOR ROBBERY BEING MORE SEVERE THAN A LIFE SENTENCE FOR FIRST DEGREE MURDER VIOLATES EQUAL PROTECTION AND DUE PROCESS IN CONTRAVENTION OF THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS

The trial judge sentenced petitioner pursuant to the guidelines on his robbery conviction. In sentencing petitioner, the court rejected petitioner's guideline sentence of twelve to seventeen years and sentenced petitioner to life.

Because petitioner received a life sentence pursuant to the guideline sentencing scheme, petitioner will spend the remainder of his life in prison with no possibility of release. See Section 921.001(10), Florida Statutes (1989); See Rule 3.701 and Rule 3.988, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure.

Petitioner was sentenced less severely on his conviction for first degree murder. While petitioner was also sentenced to life on that conviction, he is eligible for parole in twenty-five years.

In <u>Stewart v. State</u>, 549 So.2d 171 (Fla. 1989) <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u> 110 S.Ct. 3294 (1990), this Court ruled that an individual is eligible for parole in twenty-five years on a life sentence for first degree murder. This court rejected Stewart's argument that the jury should have been instructed first degree murder carries a possible life penalty with no possibility of parole, because the law provides otherwise. The court noted that when the legislature amended chapter 921 in 1983 to exclude capital felonies from guideline sentencing it left unchanged Section 775.082, Florida Statutes, the provision

-11-

providing the penalties for a first degree murder conviction and including the language "shall be required to serve no less than twenty-five years before becoming eligible for parole". The court then concluded "section 921.001(8) prohibits parole eligibility only for those offenders sentenced pursuant to the guidelines" Id. at 176. 1

Because the laws of Florida provide that a life sentence for first degree murder is less onerous than a life sentence for robbery, the legislature has created an arbitrary classification which violates the constitutional guarantee of equal protection and due process of law as guaranteed by Article 1, Sections 2 and 9 of the Florida Constitution and Amendments V and XIV of the United States Constitution. <u>But</u> <u>See Bloodworth v. State</u>, 504 So.2d 495 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987); <u>Brown v. State</u>, 15 F.L.W. D2015 (Fla. 1st DCA August 6, 1990).

While a rational legislative purpose is apparent for denying parole to individuals convicted of murder or robbery, there is no rational legislative purpose served by a sentencing scheme which comprehends granting parole to convicted murderers but denying it to those convicted of robbery. The classification can only be viewed as arbitrary.

-12-

l Section 921.001(8) (1983), Florida Statutes, now amended and codified as Sections 921.001(10) and (11), Florida Statutes (1989); again amended in ch. 89-526, effective September 1, 1990.

The equal protection and due process clauses prohibit arbitrary classifications in legislation.

In Logan v. Zimmerman, 455 U.S. 422 (1982) the United States Supreme Court considered the constitutionality of a statute dealing with discrimination laws which granted hearings to some and denied hearings to others. The Court held the statute violated due process. In a concurring opinion, four justices discussed the equal protection problems with the law, stating:

> For over a century, the Court has engaged in a continuing and occasionally almost metaphysical effort to identify the precise nature of the equal protection clause guarantees. As the minimum level, however, the Court "consistently has required that legislation classify the persons it affects in a manner rationally related to legitimate governmental objectives." Schweider v. Wilson, 450 U.S. 1074 (1981). This is not a difficult standard for the State to meet, when it is attempting to act sensibly and in good faith. But the "rational basis standard is 'not a toothless one, '" (citations omitted); the classificatory scheme must "rationally advance a reasonable and identifiable governmental objective."

> This Court still has an obligation to view the classificatory system, in an effort to determine whether the disparate treatment accorded the affected classes is arbitrary. <u>Rinaldi v. Yeager, 384 U.S. 308, 16 L.Ed2d</u> 577, 86 S.Ct. 1497 ("The Equal Protection Clause requires more of a state law than non-discriminatory application within the class it establishes"). <u>Cf. U.S. Railroad</u> <u>Retirement Bd. v. Fritz, 449 US, at 178, 66</u> <u>L.Ed.2d 368, 101 S.Ct. 453.</u>

<u>Id</u>. at 439; 441.

. . .

In <u>Skinner v. Oklahoma ex rel. Williamson</u>, 316 U.S. 535 (1942) disparate treatment of similarly situated groups was found to violate equal protection. In <u>Skinner</u>, a law which provided for sterilization of those convicted of three felonious larcenies but did not provide for sterilization of those convicted of three felonious embezzlements, was found to violate the equal protection clause because felonious embezzlement was arbitrarily excluded from the category of those subject to sterilization.

Similarly, in the case at bar, disparate treatment of those convicted of murder and robbery, violates equal protection. There is no rational basis to support the position that murder is less of an intrusion into a victim's personal rights than an assault against the victim's person for the purpose of obtaining property. But the life sentence for first degree murder comprehends possible release of the offender in the offender's lifetime, a life sentence for robbery does not.

Because the classification is arbitrary and without rational basis, petitioner's life sentence for robbery violates the constitutional guarantees of equal protection and due process of law and should be reversed for resentencing to a term of years.

-14-

ISSUE III

THE COURT ERRED IN DEPARTING UPWARD FROM THE GUIDELINES AND SENTENCING APPELLANT TO LIFE IMPRISONMENT ON THE ROBBERY CONVICTION

The trial judge departed from the recommended range of twelve to seventeen years in sentencing petitioner to life imprisonment for robbery. In sentencing petitioner, the court cited, "a history of an escalating pattern of criminal activity which convinces me that there's no hope for rehabilitation" (R 366). In it's written order of departure the court noted, "the defendant has demonstrated a history of an escalating pattern of violent criminal activity which convinces this Court there exists no hope for rehabilitation of this young man. It remains only for the State of Florida to protect society from this individual" (R 388).

The Florida Supreme Court has authorized the use of an escalating course of criminal conduct in certain circumstances as a valid reason for departure. <u>Keys v. State</u>, 500 So.2d 134 (Fla. 1986); <u>See State v. Simpson</u>, 554 So.2d 509 (Fla. 1989).

Petitioner submits that the evidence does not support the requisite finding of an escalation from crimes against property to violent crimes against persons. The offenses that the trial judge discussed in the record were juvenile offenses which occurred in 1981 and 1982. Two prior escapes the petitioner was convicted of cannot be said to be crimes against either persons or property, and cannot be factored into the equation of escalation. While petitioner did have an adult record other

-15-

than escapes, the totality of that record was insufficient to meet the requirements of Keys, supra.

Moreover, the sentencing transcript and written order entered by the court all evidence that the trial judge's real reason for departing upward is his conclusion that petitioner cannot be rehabilitated and is a danger to society (R 364-367).

That someone is a danger to society or not amenable to rehabilitiation are invalid reasons for departure from the guidelines. Tillman v. State, 525 So.2d 862 (Fla. 1988).

Where the sentence choice is between probation and incarceration, or between a short period of incarceration and a longer period, the amenability of an individual to rehabilitation as evidenced by an escalating pattern of criminal activity might have some meaning in choosing whether or not to depart upward from the guidelines.

However, in the case before this court, the sentence imposed on the first degree murder conviction requires a minimum of twenty-five years incarceration before eligibility for parole. At the point petitioner is eligible for parole, he still would not be released absent a determination by the paroling authority that he was rehabilitated.

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