IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

¢ FALFE SID J. Websy SEP 17 1990 K. Si COURT Deputy Clerk

VASTEN BLAIR,

1

.

.1

ų,

.

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO.: 75,937

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BRADLEY R. BISCHOFF ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 714224

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, VASTEN BLAIR, the defendant below, will be referred to in this brief as "Petitioner." Respondent, the State of Florida, the prosecuting authority below, will be referred to in this brief as either "Respondent or "the state." References to the record on appeal will be by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number.

- 1 -

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

•

,

..

.

Respondent is in agreement with Petitioner's recital of the case and facts.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE I:

This Court should reverse the district court's order remanding the instant case for resentencing pursuant to <u>Ree v.</u> <u>State</u>, as <u>Ree</u> may only be applied prospectively. Neither <u>Pope v.</u> <u>State</u> nor <u>Shull v. Dugger</u> would apply to this case as a valid written reason for departure was issued by the trial court.

ISSUE II:

Petitioner's life sentence for robbery does not violate equal protection or due process as his sentence is one established by the legislature and is not cruel and unusual.

ISSUE III:

The issue of the validity of the guidelines departure reason in this case is not preserved for review by this Court. Even so, escalating pattern of criminality is a valid departure reason in this case.

- 3 -

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT REVERSIBLY ERRED IN FAILING TO ISSUE CONTEMPORANEOUS WRITTEN REASONS FOR DEPARTURE AT THE TIME OF SENTENCING. (RESTATED).

In its opinion dated April 4, 1990, the District Court of Appeal below reversed Petitioner's guidelines departure sentence because the trial court did not issue its written reason for departure at the time that Petitioner's sentence was orally imposed. The district court relief on this Court's pronouncement in <u>Ree v. State</u>, <u>So.2d</u>, 14 F.L.W. 565 (Fla. November 16, 1989) (Ree I).

Respondent asserts that Petitioner's original sentence should be reinstated on the authority of this Court's opinion on rehearing in <u>Ree v. State</u>, ______ So.2d _____, 15 F.L.W. S395 (Fla. July 19, 1990) (<u>Ree II</u>). In <u>Ree II</u> this Court unequivocally stated that <u>Ree</u> ". . .shall only be applied prospectively." <u>Ree</u> II, <u>supra</u> at S396. Since Petitioner was sentenced on March 23, 1989, application of <u>Ree</u> to Petitioner's case would be retrospective and thus impermissible.

The logic of applying <u>Ree</u> prospectively only is unassailable. A trial judge can be expected to change a custom or procedure only when put on notice by the legislature or a high court that the existing custom or procedure is no longer in compliance with exiting law. Clearly, a trial judge is expected

- 4 -

to apply the law as it exists at the time, and not to anticipate what changes may be handed down in the future. To apply <u>Ree</u> retrospectively would in effect penalize trial courts for following a customary and then legitimate sentencing practice, and would further needlessly burden overcrowded criminal court dockets. The Court's wisdom in applying <u>Ree</u> prospectively only is readily apparent.

<u>Ree</u> II became final on August 3, 1990, as that is when the mandate issued (Rule 9.340(a), Fla.R.App.P.). Consequently, <u>Ree</u> does not apply to defendants sentenced before that date. Petitioner was sentenced on March 23, 1989, and <u>Ree</u> I did not even issue until November 16, 1989, so clearly <u>Ree</u> does not apply to Petitioner as the trial judge had no notice whatsoever that contemporaneous (i.e. instantaneous) written reasons for departure would be required later. This situation is materially different from that in <u>State v. Jones</u>, 485 So.2d 1283 (Fla. 1986), as a <u>State v. Neil</u> violation presumably prejudices a defendant at trial, thus possibly resulting in an unjust conviction. It has never been demonstrated that a <u>Ree</u> violation prejudices a defendant at all.

Indeed, this Court is currently considering whether a <u>Ree</u> violation is even harmful error. In <u>State v. Lyles</u>, Case No. 75,878, and <u>State v. Williams</u>, Case No. 75,880, the following certified question is before this court:

- 5 -

WHETHER A SENTENCE MUST BE REVERSED AND REMANDED FOR RESENTENCING PURSUANT TO THE OPTIONS PROVIDED IN REE V. STATE, 14 F.L.W. 565 (FLA. NOV. 16, 1989), WHEN THERE IS NO SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE REASONS FOR DEPARTURE FROM THE GUIDELINES WHICH WERE PRONOUNCED ORALLY AT THE IMPOSITION OF SENTENCE AND THE WRITTEN REASONS WHICH WERE ENTERED THE SAME DAY OR WITHIN A FEW DAYS OF THE IMPOSITION OF SENTENCE?

A negative response to the certified question is urged.

Petitioner contends that the District Court of Appeal below erred in authorizing in its remand that the trial court may again sentence him outside of the guidelines. In support, Petitioner relies on <u>Pope v. State</u>, 561 So.2d 554 (Fla. 1990, and <u>Shull v. Dugger</u>, 515 So.2d 748 (Fla. 1987).

As Respondent pointed out previously, <u>Ree</u> does not apply to Petitioner, and thus resentencing is neither authorized nor necessary. However, assuming arguendo that Petitioner was to be resentenced, <u>Pope v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>. does not apply to the instant case. In <u>Pope</u>, this Court stated ". . .we hold that when an appellate court reverses a departure sentence <u>because there were</u> <u>no written reasons</u>, the court must remand for resentencing with no possibility of departure from the guidelines. <u>Pope</u>, <u>supra</u>. at 556. (emphasis supplied). In <u>Pope</u>, the trial court issued oral reasons <u>only</u>.

In contrast, a written reason for departure was issued in this case, albeit after the sentencing hearing (R 388).

- 6 -

Petitioner seems to suggest that if written reasons for departure are not issued contemporaneously that the written reasons somehow magically disappear. Common sense and logic do not support this conclusion. <u>Pope</u> does not apply to this case.

<u>Shull v. Dugger</u>, 515 So.2d 748 (Fla. 1987), does not apply to the instant case either, as Petitioner contends. In <u>Shull</u>, this Court held that, upon remand, a sentencing judge would not be permitted to provide new reasons for departure when the original reasons had been reversed by an appellate court. In the instant case, although the issue was not preserved for appellate review, the district court sua sponte approved the departure reasons given the trial court. (See Issue III, infra).

In sum, Petitioner seeks reversal of that portion of the opinion below that authorizes reimposition of a departure sentence on remand. Respondent urges this Court to reverse that portion of the opinion below which relies on <u>Ree</u> I, as this Court's subsequent pronouncement in <u>Ree</u> II prohibits retroactive application of the rule announced in <u>Ree</u>. Once this is done, the resentencing issue is moot.

- 7 -

ISSUE II

WHETHER APPELLANT'S LIFE SENTENCE FOR ROBBERY VIOLATES EQUAL PROTECTION AND DUE PROCESS. (RESTATED)

Petitioner contends that the trial court erred in imposing a life sentence with three (3) years minimum mandatory for his robbery conviction because that sentence is more onerous than his life sentence for first degree murder. Petitioner argues that his life sentence for robbery violates equal protection and due process in contravention of the Florida and U.S. constitutions.

For this proposition Petitioner relies on <u>Skinner v.</u> <u>Oklahoma ex rel. Williamson</u>, 316 U.S. 535, 86 L.Ed 1655 (1942), a case dealing with the constitutionality of an Oklahoma statute which provided for the sterilization of habitual criminals. In <u>Skinner</u>, the U.S. Supreme Court held that where the statute applied to persons convicted of larceny, including larceny by fraud, but expressly exempted from its operation persons convicted of embezzlement, although both were punishable in the same manner under state law, the statute violated the equal protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. There is no such statute at issue here. Petitioner's life sentence was a guidelines departure sentence based on his criminal record.

Petitioner argues that the legislature cannot arbitrarily divide up the penalties for crimes so that one crime (robbery)

- 8 -

which is less serious than another (murder) receives a harsher penalty. Petitioner overlooks the fact that his life sentence for robbery was a guidelines departure sentence which was based on facts peculiar to the previous criminal episodes in which he participated, and was not based on a mandatory statutory classification such as that in <u>Skinner</u>. The sentence sub judice does not involve an arbitrary statutory classification without rational basis, but rather a legislatively sanctioned judicial determination based on Petitioner's own actions.

Petitioner also relies on Logan v. Zimmerman Brush Co., 455 U.S. 422, 71 L.Ed.2d 265, 102 S.Ct. 1148 (1982). The situation in Zimmerman involved a fair employment practice claimant who was denied a hearing before the state commission because the commission itself failed to hold a preliminary conference within the 120 day statutory period. The Supreme Court held that the complainant was deprived of a protected property interest in violation of the due process clause. In a separate opinion four justices concluded that because claimants whose claims were processed within the prescribed time were treated differently than those whose claims were not, the claimant here was deprived of his Fourteenth Amendment right to equal protection of the law.

The situation in Zimmerman is not analogous to that in the case at bar. Petitioner has not demonstrated that he was treated differently than other similarly-situated defendants,

- 9 -

nor has he demonstrated that he was deprived of a due process right by the action of the state. Petitioner's sentence was commensurate with his negative impact on society, and the statutory machinery which authorized that sentence is rationally related to legitimate governmental and societal objectives.

There is no constitutional violation regarding Petitioner's sentence. In <u>Bloodworth v. State</u>, 504 So.2d 495 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), the defendant received a life sentence under the guidelines. The court stated:

Appellant contends that his life sentence denies him his constitutional right to equal protection under the law. He points to the fact that he has received a more severe sentence than a person convicted of a capital felony who does not receive the death penalty. Under present law, a capital crime felon who does not receive the death penalty receives a life sentence but is eligible for parole consideration after serving 25 years. On the other hand, a felony person convicted of a life is punishable by either life imprisonment or a term of years not exceeding 40. See Section 775.082(3)(a), Florida Statues. And, so the appellant asserts, since the trial court sentenced him to life imprisonment instead of term of years, and since life felonies are exempt from the sentencing not guidelines and his sentence is therefore not subject to parole; he is denied equal protection. We disagree.

In order to comply with equal protection requirements, a statute must treat all people within a class the same, and the division into classes must some bear reasonable relationship to a legitimate state objective. Renau v. State, 436 So.2d The 268 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983). Equal Protection clause admits wide to а

discretion in the exercise by the state of its power to classify in the promulgation of police laws, and even though application of such laws may result in some inequality, the law will be sustained where there is some reasonable basis for the classification. <u>Hamilton v. State</u>, 366 So.2d 8, 10 (Fla. 1978) (quoting from Linsley v. Natural Carbonic Gas Co., 220 U.S. 61, 31 S.Ct. 337, 55 L.Ed 369 (1910).

The legislature has chosen to denominate certain crimes as capital felonies and others as life felonies. With respect to capital class, the legislature has the essentially provided that if the capital offense is not so severe as to warrant the death penalty, then the penalty must be life imprisonment with the provision that the offender may be eligible for parole, but only after serving a minimum of 25 years. With respect to the life felony class, the legislature has, in effect, provided that if the life felony is not so severe as to warrant a life sentence (without eligibility for parole), then the penalty will be a term of years no greater than 40 years (again without eligibility for parole).

Appellant has failed to establish that there is no rational basis for such classifications. Moreover, it is clear that all persons falling within the life felony class are subject to the same range of penalties; so also with respect to those in the capital felony class.

Bloodworth, supra. at 498, 499.

In essence, Petitioner is arguing that because the minimum penalty for first degree murder (25 years) is less onerous than the maximum penalty for robbery (life in prison), that his sentence is unconstitutional. Petitioner overlooks the fact that the maximum penalty for first degree murder is <u>death</u>. As a proportionality analysis, Petitioner's argument must fail. Clearly, Petitioner's sentence is authorized pursuant to §812.13(2)(a), Fla. Stat. This Court has consistently held that where a sentence is one that has been established by the legislature and is not on its face cruel and unusual, it will be sustained when attacked on the grounds of due process, equal protection, or separation of power theories. <u>Sowell v. State</u>, 342 So.2d 969 (Fla. 1977). See also <u>State v. Bailey</u>, 360 So.2d 772 (Fla. 1978). Petitioner does not contend that his sentence constitutes cruel and unusual punishment.

Consequently, it is evident that Petitioner's life sentence is not the result of a arbitrary classification nor is it without a rational basis. Since the sentence is legislatively authorized and is not cruel and unusual, Petitioner sentence must be affirmed.

- 12 -

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED TN DEPARTING UPWARD FROM THE GUIDELINES SENTENCING PETITIONER AND TO LIFE IMPRISONMENT ON THE ROBBERY CONVICTION.

Petitioner is attempting to present an issue to this Court which was not preserved by objection in the trial court and was not an issue on appeal before the district court. The failure to raise an issue before either the trial court or the District Court of Appeal warrants that the Supreme Court decline to address the issue when presented for the first time on petition for review. Trushin v. State, 425 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1982). In order to be preserved for further review by a higher court, an issue must be presented to the lower court and the specific legal argument or ground to be argued on appeal or review must be a part of that presentation. Tillman v. State, 471 So.2d 32 Absent a contemporaneous objection, sentencing (Fla. 1985). errors must be apparent on the face of the record to the cognizable on appeal. Dailey v. State, 488 So.2d 532 (Fla. 1986). See also Forehand v. State, 537 So.2d 103 (Fla. 1989).

Petitioner's guidelines departure sentence of life imprisonment with a three year minimum mandatory is thus not preserved for review by this Court. The district court below sua sponte stated:

- 13 -

Initially, we find that the trial court's reason for departure on the armed robbery count was proper. The facts in the record pattern of criminal clearly support a activity escalating from nonviolent property escape, disorderly conduct, crimes to aggravated battery, weapons charges, and finally, in the instant case, armed robbery and first-degree murder. Under these facts, the trial court properly departed from the recommended guidelines sentence based on an escalating pattern of criminality. Keys v. State, 500 So.2d 134 (Fla. 1986); section 921.001(8), Florida Statues (1987).

Blair v. State, 559 So.2d 349, 350 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990).

The court's finding, although correct, was gratuitous in that the issue was neither preserved nor presented for review. The State maintains that this sua sponte finding is insufficient to confer jurisdiction regarding this issue upon this Court.

Even so, it is clear that Petitioner was given a departure sentence based on a valid reason supported by the record. See <u>Keys v. State</u>, 500 So.2d 134 (Fla. 1986); <u>Williams v. State</u>, 504 So.2d 392 (Fla. 1987); <u>State v. Simpson</u>, 554 So.2d 506 (Fla. 1989).

Petitioner's sentence must consequently be affirmed.

- 14 -

CONCLUSION

Based on the above cited legal authorities, Respondent prays that this Honorable Court reverse that portion of the district court opinion remanding Petitioner's case for resentencing pursuant to <u>Ree v. State</u> and affirm the district court in all other respects.